1983

Thomas A. Dobrusky And Peggy M. Dobrusky v.
Victor K. Isbell, Celia A. Isbell, Mervin R. Iverson,
Sherrie Iverson, Dell Stewart Family Trust,
Southern Utah Title Company, Iron County,
Lockhart Finance Company, Roger C. Olson,
Carlene Ann Olson, Ruth Walker, Rodney Adams,
Thomas A. Dobrusky Pension Plan, And Eckhoff
Watson & Preator Engineer : Appellant's Brief

STATEMENT OF FACTS AND NATURE OF THE CASE

The purpose of this proceeding is to determine the location of the boundary between the property owned by Plaintiffs and property of defendants.

TRIAL IN THE LOWER COURT

The trial was tried in the Court sitting without a jury.

Tr. 1.

By agreement of the parties, prior to trial, any water rights which may exist were not in dispute in this proceeding and the Court was not making in reference to the location of water rights of the parties, if any. (R. 67).

By stipulation of the parties, all claims between Plaintiffs and defendant, Bankhart Finance Company were resolved prior to trial. (R. 36).

The Court prior had previously dismissed the counterclaim of defendants, L. Ross and Dell Stewart Family Trust against plaintiffs. (R. 36).

By stipulation of the parties, the crossclaims of defendant, L. Ross and Dell Stewart Family Trust against Plaintiff, Bankhart, were settled by agreement of the parties prior to trial. (R. 36).

By agreement of the parties prior to trial, both parties waived their respective damage claims. (Tr. 4). The purpose of the trial was a determination of the boundary between the registered land owners.

The Court entered judgment from which this appeal was taken declaring the boundary line between plaintiffs' and defendants' properties to be the survey line shown upon a 1949 deed between William L. Adams and Harold Mitchell.

PLINTIFFS' POINTS ON APPEAL

The plaintiffs-appellants seek a reversal of the judgment, or in the alternative, a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Plaintiffs and defendants are owners of real property located in Iron County, state of Utah. The property which is the subject matter of this litigation includes a narrow strip of property in which both plaintiffs and defendants claim ownership.

The properties of the parties in interest were originally part of a 122 acre tract of mountain grazing land, more particularly described as follows:

The West 1/2 of lot 4, all of lot 5, of Section 10, and West 1/2 of lot 11, all of range 14 of Township 36 South, Range 12 West, Salt Lake Meridian. (R36).

William L. Adams, defendants' predecessor in interest, owns an undivided 44 62 interest; H. Harold Mitchell, plaintiff's predecessor in interest, owns an undivided 44 62 interest; and the Lyman family, which is not involved in this litigation, owned an undivided 44 62 interest. (Exhibit 6).

The owners of the tract subsequently decided to partition the property. A log fence was constructed by the Adams and Lyman to divide the Lyman property on the east side of the tract from the remainder owned by Mitchell and Adams. That is the fence which now separates the Lyman property (hereinafter referred to as "the Lyman parcel") from property to the east. That fence was built prior to 1949. (Tr. 6, 41).

In 1948, the owners determined to partition the Lyman and Adams portion of the tract. (Tr. 45). The deeds to effect the partition were eventually delivered in September, 1949. (Exhibit P-4). Mr. Mitchell was to receive approximately 19 acres of the property which remained after separating the Lyman parcel and Adams was to receive the remainder. During that year, the mesh wire fence (the subject of this action, on the west side of the Dobrusky tract) was constructed by Mr. Mitchell. (Tr. 54-55, 61-62).

Mr. Harold Mitchell offered testimony at trial that he met with William G. Adams in 1948 and discussed possible divisions for a line to partition the property. After being unable to agree on several proposed divisions, they finally agreed that Mr. Mitchell would receive a strip 19 feet wide to the west of the then-existing Adams-Lyman log fence (Tr. 44). They measured the distance from the log fence at several locations along its length and marked the points for the west boundary of the parcel which was to

belong to Mr. Mitchell. (Tr. 54-55, 61-62). Mr. Mitchell then built the wire fence at that location at his own expense since Mr. Adams had already paid a portion of the cost of constructing the bar fence. (Tr. 60).

At the time the location of the wire fence was measured, Mr. Mitchell suggested that a survey of the property be made to determine the exact location of the fence. Mr. Adams declined to have such a survey, saying that a measurement from the existing lot corner was accurate enough for him to determine the boundary. (Tr. 54-55, 62). Since no survey was made at the time, neither party knew the exact location of the surveyed boundary and they agreed that the wire fence would be the boundary between their properties. (Tr. 64, 110).

Based on a strict calculation of the area to which Mr. Mitchell was entitled for his undivided 1/3rd, he should have received 19 acres plus 8 square rods upon the partition. At the time the deeds were finally delivered in September, 1949 (Tr. 55), Mr. Adams said that although the deed reflected only 19 acres he was sure that Mr. Mitchell would not mind so that the boundary could be on a whole number of rods from the bar fence. Mr. Mitchell testified that he did not mind so long as the description in the deed did not then or ever require crossing the wire fence. Adams then agreed that it would not. (Tr. 54-55). The deed was never changed because neither party thought it significant

ther with. (Tr. 62-66).

When it allowed plaintiffs to proffer evidence under Rule 5, Fed Rules of Civil Procedure, the trial court excluded the testimony of J. Harold Mitchell, based upon its interpretation of the Stan Reed Man's Statute (Utah Code Annotated 24-21-203, 1953, as amended). (Tr. 46-53).

The wire fence was constructed at a location which crossed 100 ft. from the existing log fence on the east side of the Adams-Mitchell parcel. (Tr. 16, 31, 54-55). The wire fence has been in existence at the same location since that time. (Tr. 28). The wire on the fence was laid down (although still attached to metal and cedar posts) each fall to protect it from winter snows and was wired up again each spring during the entire period from construction of the fence in 1943 through 1973 or 1971. (Tr. 30, 56-57, 71). During the entire period, Mr. Mitchell and his son used and occupied the Dolrusky parcel up to the wire fence for grazing in conjunction with their ranching operation. (Tr. 56, 70).

The Adams tract was also used for grazing purposes and was occupied for that purpose by the various owners and their lessees up to the wire fence. (Tr. 88-89). Title to the Adams tract was deeded by William L. Adams to three of his sons in November, 1949. Ex. P-6, P-7, P-8) (Tr. 52-53). An undivided interest in the property was acquired by Thomas Watson Adams in 1960. In 1978 the Adams parcel was

subdivided and became known as Ireland Meadows Estates Subdivision. The subdivision plat was filed in January, 1978.

Plaintiffs purchased their parcel in Iron County in 1969 and subsequently constructed a summer residence there. In conjunction with that construction, plaintiffs installed a culinary water system which uses water from a spring located in the disputed area and included various pipes and a large storage tank which are also located in the disputed area. (Tr. 28-29). Plaintiffs have continued to use their property for that purpose to the present time. (Tr. 26).

A survey made by the developers of the Ireland Meadows Estates Subdivision in late 1977 revealed that the fence line between the Adams and Bonrasky parcels (the wire fence which was constructed in 1948) is not in the same location as the surveyed line between the properties. (Tr. 94-97). None of the parties, nor their predecessors in interest, were aware that there was a difference between the fence line and the surveyed line until that time. (Tr. 64-117). Plaintiffs first became aware of the difference in June or July of 1978 when the subdivision map was submitted to the County Planning Commission for approval. (Tr. 31). On September 11, 1978, they filed with the Iron County Recorder a notice that they claimed interest in the area of lots 1-7 of the subdivision located east of the fence (where the water tank and culinary system were located) and that they

the boundary line is the true boundary. (Tr. 32) (Ex. 1). The boundary was set by the subdivision plat, and the defendant protested the location of the boundary line as the existing line between the two parcels. (Tr. 17, 18).

The property in dispute is a wedge-shaped area, bounded on the west by the fence and on the east by the survey line. On the south boundary, the fence and survey line are approximately 20 feet apart. (Tr. 21). The fence runs toward the north, across on the northerly portion of the properties and are approximately 3 feet apart in the opposite direction on the north end. Plaintiffs' well and an auxiliary system are located in the disputed area. (Ex. 1-2, 4-5).

The plaintiffs commenced the present action to determine the location of the boundary line between property owned by plaintiffs and that owned by defendants, and for an order quieting title in that property. Plaintiffs claim that the boundary line is located along the fence line which separates the properties. They base their claim upon the oral agreement between William L. Adams and J. Harold Stuedy, or alternatively, upon application of the judicial doctrine of "boundary by acquiescence." Defendants claim that the boundary line is located along the surveyed line contained in the deed and records description of the parcels. The parties also claimed damages against one

another for the purpose and for the benefit of the party.

After the trial of the cause by the jury, without a jury, the court held that the boundary between the properties of the plaintiffs and the defendants was the surveyor line based upon the 1868 deed between William L. Adams and J. Harold Mitchell. The court found that the evidence before it did not support a conclusion that the parties intended the wire fence to be the boundary line between their properties. The court further found that the fence did not establish a boundary by acquiescence. (R. 11)

By stipulation of the parties prior to trial, any water rights which may exist were not in dispute in the litigation and the court made no findings with reference to the water rights of the parties. (R. 11)

FOOTNOTES

J. HAROLD MITCHELL'S TESTIMONY CONCERNING HIS AGREEMENT WITH WILLIAM L. ADAMS THAT THE WIRE FENCE WOULD SEPARATE THE BOUNDARY BETWEEN THEIR PROPERTIES IS NOT BARRED BY THE SO-CALLED DEADMAN'S STATUTE AND WAS LEGALLY EXCLUDED BY THE 1938 CASE.

Plaintiffs contend that the wire fence, constructed by J. Harold Mitchell in 1938, is the boundary line between the property of plaintiffs and that of defendants by an express parcel agreement which was made by Mr. Mitchell and William L. Adams, both at the time the fence was constructed and at the time the deed was delivered to effect the

of 1949. Although it allowed plaintiffs' admission of the testimony of Mr. Mitnell concerning the location of the boundary line, the trial court ruled that this evidence must be excluded under the provisions of Utah's statute (Utah Code Annotated Section 78-24-2(3), 1953) (C. 53). However, this statute is clearly inapplicable to protect defendants in this case for two reasons: (1) The statute, by its very terms, does not apply to defendants; and (2) a long line of cases of this Court have held the statute inapplicable to cases such as the case at bar.

A. DEFENDANTS DO NOT COME WITHIN THE LITERAL STATUTORY LANGUAGE OF THE UTAH DEADMAN'S STATUTE SINCE THEY ARE NOT DEFENDING AS "EXECUTOR OR ADMINISTRATOR, HEIR, LEGATEE OR DEVISEE" OF THEIR DECEASED PREDECESSOR IN INTEREST.

Section 78-24-2(3), which is at issue in this appeal, reads in its entirety:

The following persons cannot be witnesses:
(3) A party to any civil action, suit or proceeding, and any person directly interested in the event thereof, and any person who, through or under whom such party or interested person derived his interest or share or any part thereof, when the adverse party in such action, suit or proceeding claims or opposes, sues, or defends, as guardian of an insane or incompetent person, or as the executor or administrator, heir, legatee, or devisee of any deceased person, or as guardian, assignee or grantee, directly

or remotely, of such heir, legatee or devisee, as to any statement, act, or transaction with such deceased, insane, or incompetent person, or matter of fact whatever, which must have been equally within the knowledge of both the witness and such insane, incompetent or deceased person, unless such witness is called to testify thereto by such adverse party so claimant or opposing, suing or defending in such action, suit or proceeding. Stat. Code Annotated, §78- 24-2(3), 1953)

J. Harold Mitchell, as the person from whom plaintiffs derived their title, may potentially be prohibited from testifying on behalf of plaintiffs concerning agreements made by him with William L. Adams, defendants' predecessor in interest. As shown by the probate file which was presented to the trial court, William L. Adams died in 1944. (Tr. 53) Mr. Mitchell is, however, prohibited from testifying concerning those matters only if the matter is defended by an adverse party who is within one of the classes enumerated in the statute:

- (1) guardian of an insane or incompetent person;
- (2) executor or administrator, heir, legatee, or devisee of any deceased person; or
- (3) guardian, assignee or grantee, directly or remotely, of such heir, legatee, or devisee.

Defendants do not come within any of these categories.

plaintiffs are not entitled to employ the statute to exclude the testimony of Mr. Mitchell concerning his dealings with Adams. It is clear that none of the defendants is the executor, administrator, or competent person. It is equally clear that none of them are an executor, administrator, legatee or devisee of William L. Adams. That leaves the defendants who are entitled to exclude the testimony if they defend the litigation as a guardian, administrator, trustee, directly or remotely, of an heir, legatee or devisee of William L. Adams.

The controverted evidence presented at trial was that William L. Adams was not the owner of the tract which is the subject of this action at the time of his death. That was established by the certified copies of deeds introduced by plaintiffs showing that William L. Adams deeded the tract to three of his sons in 1949 (Ex. 1-6, P-7, P-8), by the file in the probate of the estate of William L. Adams showing that Adams did not own the property at his death (Tr. 53), and by the testimony of D. Watson Adams that the property had been given away by William L. Adams during his lifetime. Therefore, the defendants cannot be defending this action as executors, administrators, heirs, legatees or devisees of William L. Adams. The property never passed to an heir, legatee or devisee of William L. Adams because he did not own it at his death. The defendants are, rather, successors of grantees of Adams and are defending the litigation in that capacity.

Defendants assert that the statute's restrictions apply even though their predecessor in interest, William Adams, did not have any interest in the subject property at the time of his death. They argue that the fact that Mr. Adams deeded the property away prior to his death cannot preclude them from being "successors of heirs" under the statute. (Tr. 12-13). Rather, they assert that all the statute required is that they be successors of "heirs or heirs" of the deceased, even though the particular piece of property in question did not, at any time, enter into proceedings. (Tr. 44).

Such an interpretation is contrary to both a literal reading of the statute and this Court's interpretation of the provision. The statute specifically provides that testimony is excluded only if "the claimant party is plaintiff, action . . . does or defends as . . . heir, legatee, legatee or devisee." (emphasis added). It is illogical to interpret this provision to mean that, although defendants are not claimants as heirs or devisees, legatees, or devisees, the provisions of the statute should be applied because defendant might be an heir, legatee, or devisee as respects to property other than the subject matter of the lawsuit. This Court has raised and rejected such a construction on other occasions.

In Grieve v. Howard, 14 Fla. 2d, 137 So. 2d 100, 101,

plaintiff's claim that she wanted to set aside a deed to her late husband's real estate, and executed prior to her death, in favor of her son, under the Deadman's Statute which forbids testimony by witnesses made by the decedent, or anyone who has been admitted at the time of the execution of the will, or a party thereto, that the testimony could not be given by the statute, even though the defendant was a surviving heir, a sole surviving mother, since he "was not plaintiff or defendant, guardian, executor, administrator, heir, devisee or legatee." 140 P. at 429. In reversing the district court's decision, the Court said:

As we understand the situation, defendant was admitted to the land of the deceased, but was admitted under the deed executed by her. Her relation was not such as to entitle him to object to the testimony on the grounds that it was restricted by the statute. If the plaintiff was entitled, the court erred in excluding it and the plaintiff was prejudiced thereby. 11.

As the district court found the defendant was a "bodily heir" of the decedent, he was not defendant in that capacity to admit the property in question in the litigation. As such, he could not claim the protection of the Deadman's Statute.

The Court affirmed a strict construction of the Deadman's Statute in Japaneses Highlands, Inc. v. Harper, 190 P.2d 481 (1948), where it refused to extend the statute to the estate of the deceased person himself

(rather than only assignment of heirs, legatees, and devisees of the deceased). In that case, plaintiff, who was the assignee of a real estate contract between the decedent and defendant's predecessor in interest, sought specific performance of the contract. The defendants asked to preclude the execution of the contract, but sought to introduce prior statements of the deceased which allegedly amounted to an abandonment of the contract. The plaintiff urged that the statements should be excluded under the Deadman's Statute, even though they concerned a person who came within the literal reading of the statute. In response to this argument, the Court stated:

Plaintiffs' claim of error in admitting evidence of the statement of Karl B. Hale about abandonment of the contract is based on the ground that it should be barred by the so-called dead man's statute. That statute excludes testimony of person who "sue or defend, as . . . executor or administrator, heir, legatee or devisee of . . . a deceased person" and confines the exclusion to a ". . . guardian, assignee or grantee . . . of such heir, legatee or devisee." Plaintiff concedes that it is not the assignee nor any of those three, but it is an assignee of the deceased person (Karl B. Hale) himself and that the terms of the statute do not literally apply to its relationship to Karl B. Hale. But it argues that in logic and fairness the statute should be broadly construed in accordance with its general purpose and thus include an assignee of the deceased person. True, that argument may have validity in some statutory situations, it is not so here. This is so for the reason that, as this court has previously ruled, because this statute is one of exclusion of otherwise proper evidence, it

and the contract and required strictly
compliance with its terms. 191 F.2d at 185.

In *Wright v. Johnson*, 121 Utah 173, 239
P.2d 101, the parties, who claimed
to be the rightful heirs rather than heirs,
contended that the law of the decedent's State and
the terms of his will and the conditions with the
will imposed by the trustee, the sons of the deceased,
had caused the trustee to grant their sister title
to the property, known to all as joint tenants
with right of survivorship. The defendant sought to
prevent the trustee from appointing regarding their
administration with their father concerning the property.
The court affirmed the lower court on the ground that the
decedent was in sole title and thus the testimony
was taken by the decedent's State. This Court
affirmed the:

...affirming the decision of the [decedent's
State], to apply the law that Marie T.
[decedent], he of the respondents, was defending as
heir, if Marie were defending as an heir, she
could not be appointed for the benefit of the
estate of the decedent. However, this she clearly
was not doing. She listed the property as a
trust for the benefit of the estate.
191 F.2d at 184.

The result in this case is the same as the
one reached in *Johnson*. By its own terms, Section 73-24-
101, as amended, is the work of David Mitchell

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