1984

Thomas A. Dobrusky And Peggy M. Dobrusky v. Victor K. Isbell, Celia A. Isbell, Mervin R. Iverson, Sherrie Iverson, Dell Stewart Family Trust, Southern Utah Title Company, Iron County, Lockhart Finance Company, Roger C. Olson, Carlene Ann Olson, Ruth Walker, Rodney Adams, Thomas A. Dobrusky Pension Plan, And Eckhoff Watson & Preator Engineer : Respondent's Brief

## STATEMENT OF NATURE OF CASE

This is an action to determine the location of the boundary line between real property owned by Plaintiffs and that owned by Defendants.

## DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

This case was tried to the court sitting without a jury. After hearing the evidence, the court determined that the boundary line between the properties owned by Plaintiffs and Defendants was in fact the boundary line set forth in the deed from William L. Adams and Lizy W. Adams to J. Harold Mitchell as described in Plaintiff's exhibit 4.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Defendants-Respondents seek affirmance of the judgment of the lower court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Except as hereinafter set forth, the Defendants-Respondents accept the statement of facts as set forth in the Appellant's Brief at Pages 2 through 8.

Beginning at page 3, third paragraph, of the Appellant's Brief, Appellant states as facts statements which were excluded by the court at trial based upon Plaintiff's objections which were sustained by the court. The Appellant sets forth as facts in his brief those statements made by Harold Mitchell with respect to conversations he allegedly had with William L. Adams who is deceased. It cannot properly be said that the items set forth beginning with the third paragraph of page 3 and continuing through the first paragraph of page 5 are facts. The statements made therein merely reflect a proffer made by the Plaintiffs-Appellants at trial after the court had ruled that such evidence was inadmissible under the Dead Man's Statute, hearsay, parol evidence and the Statute of Frauds.

The evidence is clear that J. Harold Mitchell at his own expense in 1948 constructed the wire mesh fence, which is the subject of this lawsuit, for the purpose of containing his sheep and that said fence was used as a livestock fence. (TR PP. 54-55) The evidence is clear from Mr. J. Harold Mitchell that he built the fence prior to the time that the deed to the property was exchanged between Mr. Adams and Mr. Mitchell. (TR P.55) The wire fence in fact has been in existence since 1948. (TR PP.55-56)

The court, based on the Defendant's Motion to Strike, and pursuant to its ruling that such evidence was inadmissible under the Dead Man's Statute, parol evidence rule, the Statute of Frauds, and hearsay excluded all testimony by J. Harold Mitchell as to statements made by Mr. Adams prior to the exchanging of the deed. The evidence is clear that the wire fence was built by J. Harold Mitchell at his expense and without any help or participation of Mr. Adams. (TR P.69, Ln. 10-20). After stating that he had erected the fence without any help of Mr. Adams, in 1948, Mr. Mitchell then testified that the deed (P.4) from Mr. Adams to Mr. Mitchell was prepared and given to him on or about the date on the deed which is September 15, 1949. (See ex. P.4; TR. P.60, Ln. 15-20). Mr. Mitchell further stated that he read the description on the deed, and although he felt there was a problem with the description, he did not ask Mr. Adams to revise the deed but went ahead and recorded the deed with the property description the way it was. (TR P.61, Ln. 1-7) Mr. Mitchell further testified that he knew there was no description in the deed having any reference to an existing fence line. (TR P.61, Ln. 8-10) Mr. Mitchell further testified that at the time he accepted the deed from Mr. Adams and had it recorded it was his intention that he only receive the property described in the deed and that what is described in the deed is all that he expected to receive at that time. (TR P.67, Ln. 15-23) Mr. J. Harold Mitchell further testified that while there had never been any protests over the

Use of the fence as a boundary, he had never talked to the owners on the other side of the fence about the use of the fence as a boundary. (TR P. 58, Ln. 1-6). At page 6 of Appellant's Brief, Appellant makes the statement "None of the parties or their predecessors in interest, were aware that there was a difference between the fence line and the survey line until that time." (Referring to a survey made in 1977.) Appellant then cites the transcript at pages 64 through 110, or 46 pages of the transcript. This statement made by the Appellant assumes that there is evidence other than that of J. Harold Mitchell that the fence line in fact was considered to be the boundary line. However, the testimony in the case was that the only person who ever considered the fence line to be the boundary line was J. Harold Mitchell, and Mr. Mitchell admitted in his direct examination that he had not discussed the fence as a boundary line with the owners on the other side of the fence. (TR P. 56, Ln. 4-6). Thus we have a situation where Mr. J. Harold Mitchell in his own mind is considering the fence line as a boundary, but never conveys this thought to any other persons, and then counsel for Appellants states that none of the parties nor their predecessors in interest were aware there was a difference between the fence line and the survey line until the survey of 1977. Appellant's Brief at page 6. There was no issue in the case in this regard and it is not a fact that no one considered there was a difference between the fence line and the survey line until 1977. No one except Mr. Mitchell ever considered the fence as the boundary line until the Notice of Interest was filed by the Plaintiffs in this action.

Thus the only facts which are at issue in the case, and which were not excluded as a result of the court's evidentiary ruling, were that the owners of the property by deed conveyed to J. Harold Mitchell in September, 1949, a portion of the property. The fence, which is the subject matter of this litigation was erected in 1948 and was in existence at the time of the deed being drawn issued and recorded, but there is no reference in the deed to the fence line being any part of the property line to separate the property of the parties.



ARGUMENT

Point I

J. HAROLD MITCHELL'S TESTIMONY CONCERNING STATEMENTS OF WILLIAM L. ADAMS OFFERED FOR THE PURPOSE OF SHOWING THAT THE BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN THE PROPERTY IS OTHER THAN AS DESCRIBED IN THE DEED FROM WILLIAM L. ADAMS TO J. HAROLD MITCHELL WAS PROPERLY EXCLUDED BY THE TRIAL COURT.

At trial, the Plaintiffs offered evidence from J. Harold Mitchell with regard to conversations that Mr. Mitchell claimed to have had with his grantor, William L. Adams, prior to and contemporaneous with the preparation execution and recording of the deed of September 15, 1949 (P.4). Mr. Mitchell claimed that prior to the preparation of the deed, Mr. Adams agreed that the wire mesh fence which had been erected by J. Harold Mitchell would be the boundary line between the property, and that notwithstanding the metes and bounds set forth in the deed, that Mr. Adams agreed at the time of delivery of the deed that the fence line in fact would be the property line.

Defendants properly objected to the testimony of J. Harold Mitchell with respect to the claimed conversations he had had with Mr. Adams on the basis of the Dead Man's Statute, the parol evidence rule, and hearsay. (TR. P. 54, Ln. 6-9).

What we have in the present case is a situation where a party to a deed which was executed and recorded approximately 35 years ago comes into court and attempts to vary the terms of the deed by giving testimony that the grantor of the deed, who is deceased, made an agreement with him that notwithstanding the language of the deed, the boundary line was to be other than as described in the deed. Acceptance in this case, of parol evidence with respect to such an agreement that the boundary line set forth in the deed is other than as set forth, would give to the grantee properties other than those set forth by the terms of the deed. This is the very type of situation which the Utah Supreme Court in the case of Maxfield v. Sainsbury, 10 Utah 281, 172 P. 2d 122 (1946) held was covered by the Dead Man's Statute. The court in the Sainsbury case said that the purpose of the Dead Man's Statute was to guard against the temptation to give false testimony in regard to a transaction of a deceased person by the surviving party when the transaction was involved in a lawsuit.

and death had sealed the mouth of the other party. It is clear in this case while the Defendants are in fact heirs of William Adams, the property in question did not go to the Defendants by way of intestate succession or by a Will but was deeded to the Defendants prior to the death of William Adams. Appellant argues that for the Dead Man's Statute to apply, the property in question must pass either by Will or intestate succession. However, the statute does not so say, but states merely that the class of persons to whom it applies are those who are heirs of the dead person, or grantees of heirs of the dead person, a situation which clearly is present in this case. In order for the court to determine whether or not the Dead Man's Statute would properly exclude said evidence, the court must determine the policy matters involved and decide whether or not it is a necessary prerequisite to assertion of the Dead Man's Statute that the heirs receive property either by Will or by operation of law at the death of the owner, or whether or not they merely need be within the statutory class of heirs of the deceased party before they can assert the Dead Man's Statute.

As stated in the Sainsbury case, supra, the purpose is to preclude the temptation to give false testimony with regard to a transaction by a surviving party where the mouth of the deceased party is sealed, then it would seem that the evidence in this case was properly excluded in line with said legislative and judicial policy.

However, even if the court were to determine that the Dead Man's Statute does not properly apply in this case, the said evidence proffered by Plaintiff is properly excluded as hearsay, under the Statute of Frauds, and as parol evidence offered for the purpose of varying the terms of an unambiguous deed.

It is a universally accepted proposition that where the description of the properties conveyed in a deed is definite, certain, and unambiguous, extrinsic evidence cannot be introduced to show that it was the intention of the grantor to convey a different tract. Nor can either party show by extrinsic evidence more or less property than that described in the deed was intended to be passed by the parties. See Generally 23 AM. Jur.2d Deeds, §250. Neither parol evidence nor surrounding facts and circumstances can properly be considered for the purpose of adding to, detracting from, or varying the terms of a deed which is plain.

certain and unambiguous with respect to the estate conveyed thereby. See Neeley v. Kelsch, 600 P. 2d 979 (Utah 1979); VanCott Jacklin, 63 Utah 412, 226 P. 460 (1924); French v. Brinkman, 35 Cal. RPTR. 289, 387 P. 2d 1 (1963); Potter v. Northern Natural Gas Company, 201 Kansas 528, 441 P. 2d 802 (1968); Rock v. Bell, 149 Mont. 449, 429 P. 2d 634 (1967); McSpaden v. Mahony 431 P. 2d 111 (Okla. 1967). A most recent Utah case with respect to this question is the case of Neely v. Kelsch, supra, wherein the court considered the question of whether or not extrinsic evidence could be admitted for the purpose of varying the deed which in fact had been recorded. In that case the court held that in fact where the case was one for reformation of the deed based on mutual mistake, which is not the issue in this case, parol evidence could be received to prove that in fact there had been a mistake but that the mistake must be proved by clear and convincing evidence. In the present case we merely have a situation where 35 years after the fact, a party now seeks to assert that a deceased grantor agreed that a deed which had been prepared and was recorded would not in fact set forth the boundaries of the property, but that the property would be bounded pursuant to an agreement made between himself and the grantee which was never reduced to writing and which was in conflict with the expressed description set forth in the deed.

At page 29 of Appellant's Brief, Appellant cites the case of Security Leasing Company v. Flintco for the proposition that the terms and intentions of a party to a writing are merged into the writing itself. This is a commonly accepted principle of law and the parol evidence rule is designed to protect the proposition that the agreements of a party are in fact merged into the written document. In this case, it is clear and undisputed that the parties agreed a portion of the property was to be partitioned off and deeded to J. Harold Mitchell by William Adams. The testimony is further clear and the evidence is undisputed that Mr. Adams on his own took measurements and erected a fence by himself at his own cost and subsequent to its erection used the fence for the purpose of containing live stock to be grazed on his property. The evidence is undisputed that the fence was in existence for at least a year prior to the

time that the deeds were prepared and recorded. Mr. Mitchell now wishes to testify that at the time the deeds were presented, he recognized that the deeds did not describe the property that he felt should be his, but that notwithstanding this fact, and notwithstanding the fact that it would be a relatively simple task to use the fence line as part of the description of the property being conveyed, he accepted the deed as it was given to him, accepted the fact that it conveyed the property that he felt he was entitled to, and that he then went and recorded the deed notwithstanding the alleged verbal agreement he claims he made with Mr. Adams. The testimony in the case is undisputed that the fence was used as a livestock fence from the time it was erected in 1948 until approximately the mid 1970's and that the fence was taken up and put down annually at the convenience of the parties and for the purpose of containing livestock. There is no evidence in the case other than from the mouth of J. Harold Mitchell that anyone other than J. Harold Mitchell ever considered the fence to be a boundary fence.

Therefore, it is respectfully submitted that the court properly excluded the testimony of J. Harold Mitchell with respect to the alleged agreements he had with the grantor which would vary the property description as set forth in the deed. It stretches the credibility of everyone to think that where the alleged boundary fence was in existence at the time the deed was prepared, that if the parties in fact intended the boundary line to be the fence, it would not have been described in the deed as in fact being the boundary line between the properties. Where in fact the fence existed at the point in time when the deed was prepared, and the fence was not described as the boundary, but the boundary was described by surveyed metes and bounds, such clearly argues for the proposition that it was never the intention of the parties that the livestock fence be the boundary line. It was clearly the intention of the parties that the property described in the deed was in fact the property being conveyed and the fence was never considered, at the time, by the grantor as the boundary.

## POINT II

PLAINTIFFS-APPELLANTS DID NOT ESTABLISH THAT THE FENCE LINE WAS IN FACT THE ACQUIRED IN BOUNDARY LINE BETWEEN PROPERTY.

Appellants claim that the evidence in the case shows that the livestock fence erected in 1948, by J. Harold Mitchell was acquiesced in by the Defendants and their predecessors in interest of such a long period of time that the said fence in fact became the boundary line between the two properties. The evidence which was admitted in the case shows that in the Spring or early Summer of 1948 the property in question was owned jointly by William Adams and J. Harold Mitchell, each having an undivided interest in the whole. J. Harold Mitchell on his own took measurements and constructed a fence to contain his sheep in an area of roughly 19 acres. On September 15, 1949, the property was partitioned by deed, and the deed having been delivered to J. Harold Mitchell was then recorded. Mr. Mitchell's share of the undivided whole was set forth by a metes and bounds description and no reference to the fence was contained in the deed. The fence was taken up and put down annually and used as needed until 1978 as a livestock fence. It was put up when needed, and let down when not needed. No discussions were ever had between J. Harold Mitchell and any of Plaintiff's predecessors with respect to the fact that the fence was a boundary during the period from 1949, after the recording of the deed, and 1978. The Plaintiffs in this case have the burden to establish all the necessary elements to show boundary by acquiescence before they can prevail on their claim that the fence line is the boundary line between the properties of the Plaintiffs and the Defendants. Leo M. Bertagnole, Inc. v. Pine Meadows Ranches, 639 P.2d 211 (Utah 1981). In the case of Madsen v. Clegg, 34 P.2d 726 (Utah 1981) the court stated:

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